
   

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Wednesday 4 July 2018 
 
Time:  2.00 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Corporate Director for Strategy and Resources 
 
Senior Governance Officer: Laura Wilson   Direct Dial: 0115 8764301 
 
 

   
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2018 
 

3 - 6 

4  DISCUSSION WITH THE LEADER/PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
REGENERATION AND GROWTH  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

7 - 8 

5  IMPLEMENTATION OF MEASURES TO IMPROVE AIR QUALITY  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

9 - 32 

6  WORK PROGRAMME  
Report of the Head of Legal and Governance 
 

33 - 36 

 

IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ON THE 
AGENDA, PLEASE CONTACT THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE, IF 
POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING  
 

CITIZENS ATTENDING MEETINGS ARE ASKED TO ARRIVE AT LEAST 15 MINUTES 
BEFORE THE START OF THE MEETING TO BE ISSUED WITH VISITOR BADGES 

Public Document Pack



 
CITIZENS ARE ADVISED THAT THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED BY MEMBERS 
OF THE PUBLIC. ANY RECORDING OR REPORTING ON THIS MEETING SHOULD 
TAKE PLACE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COUNCIL’S POLICY ON RECORDING AND 
REPORTING ON PUBLIC MEETINGS, WHICH IS AVAILABLE AT 
WWW.NOTTINGHAMCITY.GOV.UK. INDIVIDUALS INTENDING TO RECORD THE 
MEETING ARE ASKED TO NOTIFY THE GOVERNANCE OFFICER SHOWN ABOVE IN 
ADVANCE.



1 

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL  
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley 
House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on 6 June 2018 from 2.00 pm - 
3.58 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Brian Parbutt (Chair) 
Councillor Jim Armstrong 
Councillor Azad Choudhry 
Councillor Patience Uloma Ifediora 
Councillor Mohammed Ibrahim 
Councillor Glyn Jenkins 
Councillor Sue Johnson (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan 
Councillor Anne Peach (Vice Chair) 
Councillor Mohammed Saghir 
Councillor Cate Woodward 
 

Councillor Nicola Heaton 
 

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
Councillor Dave 
Liversidge 

- Portfolio Holder for Transport and HR 

Kate Morris - Governance Officer 
Laura Wilson - Senior Governance Officer 
Gary Harvey - Head of Housing Solutions 
Bobby Lowen - Lead Commissioning Manager 
Christine Oliver - Nottingham Crime and Drugs Partnership 
 
9  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Nicola Heaton – work commitments  
 
 
10  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None.  
 
11  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 May 2018 were confirmed as a true record 
and signed by the Chair.  
 
12  DISCUSSION WITH THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR TRANSPORT AND 

HR 
 

Councillor Dave Liversidge, Portfolio Holder for Transport and HR, gave a 
presentation outlining progress within his portfolio against Council Plan priorities and 
the main priorities and challenges for 2018/19. He highlighted the following points: 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 6.06.18 

2 

(a) all priorities within this new portfolio are on track and rated as “green”, but there 
is still room for improvement; 

 
(b) work is taking place to extend the reach of the Robin Hood card and allow 

greater interchangeability between different types of transport and networks; 
 
(c) bids are being submitted for funding to extend the tram network with the priority 

lines being to Clifton South and Ruddington and to Toton for the advent of HS2; 
 
(d) there has been very good uptake by taxi drivers of the MyTaxi app which will 

help to decrease the amount of time spent waiting at the taxi ranks in the city 
centre; 

 
(e) the sky link bus has been reinstated and with the development of HS2 and the 

linked expansion of East Midlands airport it will be essential to develop a good 
transport system to allow Nottingham citizens to access jobs at the airport;  

 
(f) work continues to address the issue of potholes. Small grants have been 

received from the government to address potholes, however the amounts are 
limited as they are calculated on road length rather than volume of traffic using 
them; 

 
(g) despite a huge expansion of the network of cycle routes in the city there are a 

number of improvements still to be made. The ambition is to ensure that all 
cycle paths are clean and clear, this includes reducing raise ironworks, and 
ensuring vegetation is kept clear; 

 
(h) there are now 100 apprenticeship posts filled within the City Council. Work 

within HR is now focusing on embedding new employee schemes; 
 

Following questions from the Committee the following additional information was 
given: 
 
(i) the number of charging points for electric vehicles is steadily increasing across 

Nottingham despite difficulty with the existing electrical network in place for the 
street lighting. This scheme of installation will continue;  

 
(j) at present all wheelchair accessible hackney cabs are able to use all bus 

lanes/gates within the city centre, this is not the case for private hire taxis and 
this is unlikely to change; 

 
(k) utility companies will be required to repair roads to a higher standard to ensure 

that repairs do not sink due to a lack of back fill. Works like this now require a 
licence and sign off by the Council on completion. 

 
REOLVED to thank Councillor Dave Liversidge for his attendance, and to note 
the content of his update.  
 
13  HOMELESSNESS 

 
Rachael Harding, Housing Strategy Specialist, and Bobby Lowen, Commissioning 
Lead, gave a detailed presentation on the current work being done and, along with 
Christine Oliver, Head of Commissioning, Andrew Redfern, Chief Executive of 

Page 4



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 6.06.18 

3 

Framework Housing, and Gary Harvey, Head of Housing Solutions, they highlighted 
the following points: 
 
(a) there are a number of important partnerships in place working to reduce 

homelessness in Nottingham. These include statutory organisations and public 
sector organisations as well as community and voluntary organisations;  

 
(b) the multi-agency partnership is drawing up a collaborative strategy that outlines 

a set of shared aims and values and asks that everyone within the partnership 
works towards reducing homelessness with a specific set of individual pledges. 
This 5 year document is due to be consulted on very shortly;  

 
(c) programmes that have come about due to cross department working within 

Nottingham City Council include the Cold Weather Plan and the winter 
measures. Partnership working has led to communication campaigns and 
outreach teams reaching more people; 

 
(d) the Opportunity Nottingham programme is funded through the Big Lottery Fund 

and has been working with people with multiple and complex needs. The 
programme is designed to be a person centred approach with services meeting 
their needs rather than the person fitting into an established framework of 
services; 

 
(e) the Opportunity Nottingham programme is now half way through an 8 year life. 

Over the life of the programme it aims to engage with 380 people and has 
reached that number already. Although the programme has been successful it 
has also coincided with a significant increase in the rise of numbers of people 
sleeping on the streets and so its impact has appeared limited;  

 
(f) there are a number of ongoing developments around partnership working: a 

proposed stakeholder forum held quarterly to ensure a regular channel of 
communication, a shared information system and a duty to refer pilot; 

 
(g) there has been a reduction in available budget on top of increase demand for 

services which has led to a review of commissioned services focusing on how 
to manage the pressures on services, deliver savings and continue to support 
citizens; 

 
(h) the review formed a joint strategic needs assessment and included stakeholder 

events, online surveys and shared online feedback. It also included input from 
those with lived experience;  

 
(i) the outcome of the review has led to few more inclusive contracts being 

commissioned with extra capacity within temporary and supported 
accommodation, including provision of different types to suit families as a well 
as individuals with longer contracts to encourage capital investment; 

 
(j) grant funding for the No Second Night Out has come to an end but mainstream 

funding has been established to ensure the programme continues; 
 
(k) going forward there are a number of measures being taken, including Ending 

Rough Sleeping in Nottingham workshops planned, a bid for additional funding 

Page 5



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 6.06.18 

4 

from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government and closer 
contract management with a role for Housing Aid; 

 
(l) there is also ongoing work with the Leaving Care Team, to reduce the number 

of bed and breakfast placements of care leavers. 
 
Following questions and comments from the Committee the following information was 
given: 
 
(m) there is a weekly eviction prevention panel which consists of officers from 

Nottingham City Homes and Revenue and Benefits, as well as support services 
and they focus on what support can be given to those most at risk of being 
evicted and being made homeless to sustain their tenancies;  

 
(n) it is challenging to measure the effectiveness of the work, but for each contract 

there is a set of agreed outcomes to be delivered to citizens, these are being 
and will continue to be monitored across the life of the contract; 

 
(o) additional support staff have been put in place to support those making benefit 

claims within the private rented sector as they traditionally have a lower success 
rate than those in Council or supported housing; 

 
(p) care leavers move from care into semi-independent living accommodation. 

Their transition is carefully monitored and their move into social housing is 
planned. The Leaving Care Team and Housing colleagues work closely 
together to accommodate the individual in the most sustainable and most 
appropriate housing available; 

 
(q) a Housing First scheme similar to the ones seen in Liverpool and Manchester 

would be a good way to impact on homelessness. These schemes ensure that 
a person has a tenancy and then provides wrap around support to ensure that 
the tenancy is maintained.  

 
The Committee agreed that the roll out of universal credit would create very 
challenging circumstances and the impact it has on homelessness figures will need 
to be carefully monitored and addressed. It also agreed that hearing the voice of 
tenants from the private rented sector should be built into the system. 
 
The Committee was keen to see a reduction in the number of people being 
accommodated in bed and breakfast accommodation  
 
RESOLVED to 
 
(1) note the content of the presentations and to thank colleagues and 

partners for their attendance; and 
 
(2) receive a further report on homelessness and the impact of universal 

credit roll out later in the year.  
 
14  WORK PROGRAMME 

 
RESOLVED to have a detailed discussion on the work that is currently planned 
for the 2018/19 municipal year at the next meeting.  

Page 6



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

4 JULY 2018 

DISCUSSION WITH THE LEADER/PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
REGENERATION AND GROWTH  
 

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To hear from the Leader/Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Growth 

on progress against his Council Plan priorities, and his main priorities 
and challenges for the 2018/19 municipal year. 

 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 To use the information received at the meeting from Councillor Jon 

Collins, Leader/Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Growth, to inform 
questioning and identify potential areas for future scrutiny. 

 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 On 9 November 2015 the Council Plan was approved by full Council, and 

guides the Council’s services and approach to support the delivery of its 
key priorities for the city until May 2019. 

 
3.2 The Council Plan 2015-19 identifies the following for Councillor Jon 

Collins: 

 aims over the four years covered by the Plan: 
o attract international business whilst supporting and enhancing 

our reputation as a leading Science City; 
o continue to drive Nottingham as a leading retail and business 

city by delivering investment in our main shopping centres; 
o maximise the city’s potential by driving regeneration and 

improvements across the city; 

 key things to be done over the life of the Plan: 
o create a world class entrance to the south of the city centre by 

capitalising on the benefits of the tram and station interchange 
and Intu’s plans to refurbish Broadmarsh; 

o aim to develop a world class conference centre as part of the Ice 
Stadium complex and develop the Guildhall site to complement 
the Nottingham Trent University conferencing facilities and the 
Royal Concert Hall; 

o start the development of the Island site; 
o plan, encourage and develop the Waterside between Trent 

Bridge and Colwick Park for housing and other complementary 
uses; 

o establish a local investment bank by 2017 to invest in the local 
economy; 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

o deliver the business support schemes that underpin the city’s 
Growth and City Deal. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 None. 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Council Plan 2015-19. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

Page 8

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

4 JULY 2018 

IMPLEMENTATION OF MEASURES TO IMPROVE AIR QUALITY – 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE STRATEGY 2017-
2020  
 

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To receive information on the impact the implementation of the Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy 2017-2020, including the age 
and specification policies, may have on improving air quality in the city. 

 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 To consider the information provided and use it to inform questioning and 

make recommendations, where appropriate. 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 At its meeting on 4 April 2018, the Committee decided to look at a 

number of measures that are being implemented to improve air quality in 
the city. It decided to specifically look at the impact of the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy 2017-2020, including the age 
and specification policies, at its July meeting, and the Council’s plans 
regarding the charging infrastructure for electric vehicles and reducing 
the impact of the Council’s own fleet at its September meeting. 

 
3.2 Air pollution is recognised as a significant health issue with work flowing 

from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment estimating that up to 250 
deaths can be linked to air pollution in the city area in 2010. 

 
3.3 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) were declared in 2002 on the 

grounds that annual mean nitrogen dioxide levels exceeded permissible 
limits in heavily trafficked parts of the City. One of these areas covers the 
main traffic routes in the City Centre and the second the Dunkirk area 
close to the Ring Road. 

 
3.4 In December 2015, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs (DEFRA) published a new Air Quality Plan. The aim of this was to 
reduce air pollution levels in problem areas to within EU threshold limits. 

 
3.5 As a result the Government is going to mandate certain areas, including 

Nottingham, to implement Clean Air Zones. This means that by 2020 
polluting taxi and private hire vehicles along with buses, coaches and 
heavy goods vehicles will be required to pay a charge to enter 
designated areas unless they meet stringent emission standards i.e. are 
classified as Ultra Low Emission. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

 
3.6 In December 2017 the Council approved a Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire Age and Specifications Policy, as part of the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy 2017-2020. 

 
3.7 The Council has various statutory requirements and targets in relation to 

air quality which sit alongside its licensing duties to ensure that Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles are safe and of a suitable size, type, 
mechanical construction and design. The existing Hackney Carriage 
specification has not kept pace with significant advances in design and 
technology since it was first adopted. The current specification for the 
Hackney Carriage fleet is over 20 years old.   

 
3.8 Whilst the Private Hire fleet is younger due to the requirement that no 

Private Hire vehicle is licensed after the age of 10 years from first 
registration, it is envisaged that with the increase in technology there is 
still scope for improvement.  

 
3.9 The revision of the existing age policy and further amendments to 

vehicle specifications are necessary to not only introduce new 
technological advances to the aging fleets but also to support the 
Councils responsibility in relation to the lowering of emissions and the 
reduction in pollution levels from inefficient diesel cars. 

 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy 2017-2020. 
 
4.2 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Age and Specifications Policy. 
 
4.3 Briefing note from Taxi Licensing.  
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Regulatory and Appeals Committee agendas and minutes. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  

Page 11

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicle Strategy 2017-2020

Page 13



Contents 
                   

1 	 Introduction	 Page	 3�

2 	 Strategy aims	 Pages 	 3�

3 	 Policy context	 Page 	 4�  

4 	 Air quality in Nottingham	 Page 	 4�

5 	 Role of local authority in regulating 
	 the taxi system	 Page 	 5�

6 	 Overview of the current situation	 Pages 	 5�

7 	 How the trade are currently enforced	 Page 	 8�

8 	 Taxi ranks	 Pages 	 8�  

9 	 Challenges and opportunities	 Page 	 10�

10 	 The Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy	 Pages 	 10�

11 	 Action Plan	 Pages	 13�

12 	 Funding improvements	 Page 	 15�

13 	 Working with partners to deliver this vision	 Page 	 15�

2
Page 14



		 Introduction
	 	Hackney Carriages (taxis) and Private Hire Vehicles (PHVs) are an important part of 
Nottingham’s integrated transport system. They are a useful, often vital, component to completing 
journeys and may form part of a more sustainable longer distance multi modal trip or be used where 
no convenient alternative is available. The demand responsive, often 24 hour a day, 7 days a week, 
year round service can respond to a wide range of needs. It is one of the most flexible elements of 
the transport system, yet still operates on a completely commercial basis.

In Nottingham, taxis and private hire vehicles are integral to supporting businesses to thrive by 
transporting people and goods/packages. The services can be a primary mode of passenger 
transport for many people for whom mainstream public transport is not an option or suitable, due 
to lack of public transport availability. Whilst fully compliant taxis help support many disabled and 
vulnerable people to live more independent lives. They also play an important part in the city’s 
night time economic well being, providing a safe and secure mode of transport for many people. 
A thriving, efficient and affordable taxi service contributes to the local economy and benefits both 
local residents and visitors to Nottingham. 

		 Strategy aims
	 The taxi and private hire industry in Nottingham is facing challenges: not only in the type of 
service it needs to deliver to continue to adapt to changing demographics of a growing, ageing and 
high student population but also in how it delivers its services due to technological advancements 
e.g. App bookings, new business operating models i.e. Uber and low emission vehicles. 

The City Council is committed to ensuring the taxi and private hire sector remains integrated in our 
sustainable transport network and for them to continue to move passengers to destinations safely, 
whilst contributing to the economy with minimal environmental impact. 

The aim of this document is to provide an achievable action plan for the taxi and private hire trade 
in Nottingham for the next 5 years and beyond. The strategy will help us understand where we want 
the taxi system to be in the future and how we are going to get there. 

We want this strategy to help achieve a high quality operation that is: 

•	 Customer focused: High levels of customer service are achieved, there are 			 
	 accountable operators and drivers and an accessible and value for money service  
	 is provided

•	 Safe: Both taxi and private hire services to be as safe as possible

•	 Resilient: Fleet vehicle transition to become low emission and energy efficient 

•	 Independent: The industry to continue to operate on a fully commercial basis.

Plus provide:

•	 Quality: The taxi system in Nottingham should provide the highest quality of service to the 
residents and visitors and be focused on customer service and the customer experience. 
The service should be affordable, accessible, and safe for anyone choosing to use a taxi. 

•	 Clean: The taxi stock in Nottingham should be at the cutting edge in technological 
advancements with greener, cleaner vehicles and associated infrastructure helping to provide a 
high quality environmentally friendly service now and into the future.

•	 Enforced: During customer engagement concerns about the strength of regulation and 
enforcement by the City Council around driver behaviour in particular over ranking, violation of 
traffic orders and illegal parking have been raised. 

Hackney Carriages and Private Hire 
Vehicle Strategy

1

2

3
Page 15



	 Policy context
	 It is important that the proposals and actions contained within this strategy align with the 
wider vision for Nottingham, including present and upcoming Council Plan and Nottingham Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) policies. The LTP recognises that taxis are an important part of the city’s 
transport network. The City Council is committed to maintaining and enhancing the quality and 
reliability of Nottingham’s integrated transport network through buses, tram, taxis, coaches, park 
and ride and easy interchange will be crucial to delivering economic benefits whilst also contributing 
to a low carbon transport system and improving people’s accessibility to services and employment. 

Taxis and private hire vehicles contribute to two core objectives of the LTP including:

•	 Delivering a world-class sustainable transport system which supports a thriving 		
	 economy and enables growth

•	 Improving access to key services, employment and training including the creation of 		
	 local employment and training opportunities 

Measures around taxis and private hire will be investigated including to:
•	 Better integrate taxis and private hire services with public transport services such as with 	

the NET tram network, rail services, SkyLink bus service to East Midlands Airport and with 
national coach services. Discounted fare promotions and combined ticketing will be further 
investigated to offer greater value for money to customers.

•	 Improve integration of the public transport network with taxis, private hire and community and 
voluntary transport e.g. through continued development of the Linkbus services.

The Department for Transport’s best practice guidance on Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
(2010) , states that all modes of transport including taxi and private hire services have a 
valuable part to play in overall transport provision, and so local licensing authorities have 
input into delivering the LTPs. The key policy themes for such services include availability 
and accessibility. LTPs can cover: 
•	 Quantity controls (via number of licences issued) and plans for the review of licensing 

conditions, with a view to safety but also to good supply of taxi and private hire services 

•	 Fares (Hackneys only) 

•	 On-street availability, especially through provision of taxi ranks 

•	 Vehicle accessibility for people with disabilities 

•	 Encouragement of flexible services. 

	 Air Quality in Nottingham 
	 Air pollution is recognised as a significant health issue with work flowing from the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment estimating that up to 250 deaths can be linked to air pollution in the 
City area in 2010. 

Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) were declared in 2002 on the grounds that annual mean 
nitrogen dioxide levels exceeded permissible limits in heavily trafficked parts of the City. One of 
these areas covers the main traffic routes in the City Centre and the second the Dunkirk area close 
to the Ring Road. 

3

4

4

Nottingham City Council will work with taxi and private hire operators and other key 
stakeholders to ensure:

•	 A higher quality service provision for customers

•	 A fair and properly enforceable system 

•	 Nottingham’s taxi stock is at the cutting edge with the advances in green vehicles and 		
	 changes in technology

•	 Consistency with the overall Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 (transport strategy) for the city 	
	 and the wider conurbation. 

Page 16



	 Role of the local authority in 				  
	 regulating the taxi system 
As a Unitary Authority the City Council is the Taxi Licensing Authority, within its boundary. It is the 
duty of the Council to regulate the quality of service and safety standards of both Hackney Cabs 
and Private Hire vehicles. Drivers of both must be licensed. The distinction between taxis and 
private hire vehicles is that taxis ply for work from a rank, can hailed in the street and undertake 
pre booked work. Private hire services can only be pre booked. The Council seeks to promote and 
maintain an adequate supply and coverage of operators and vehicles across the city. It is also the 
City Council’s responsibility to implement taxi ranks on the public highway, reasonably close to 
where people want to travel from, including key interchange points with bus and rail networks. The 
number of Hackney Cab licences is limited by the City Council where applicants for a licence are 
required to undertake a knowledge test and a driving assessment. The City Council is currently 
investigating shared service arrangements with Gedling Borough Council regarding the licensing 
enforcement activities as a means of achieving budget savings. 

	 Overview of current situation
	 There are currently 411 Hackney Carriages licensed within Nottingham, all of which are 
diesel vehicles. They comprise of two main manufacturers: The London Taxi Company (formerly 
London Taxi International) and Metrocab. Both of their parent companies are investing heavily in 
electric vehicle technology. 
There are currently over 1,000 licenses issued to private hire vehicles within the city of Nottingham. 
All drivers are issued with a dual licence allowing them to drive both Hackney carriages and private 
hire vehicles.

Number of private hire companies based in the City
There are 24 private hire companies (operators) licensed within Nottingham. 

Age of vehicles 
The age limit of vehicles can be broken down into two main components: initial age limit and vehicle 
age limit. The licensing authority currently has an initial age limit of five years for PHVs and no age 
restriction on Hackney Carriages. This means that new PHVs with no vehicle being licenced over the 
age of ten years. 
There and no licences available for Hackney Carriages at present. However anyone replacing their 
existing Hackney carriage must do so with a vehicle which is younger than the one being removed 
but in any event no older than 7 years. Once the vehicle reaches 12 years of age a new licence will 
only be issued if the vehicle is in exceptional roadworthy condition.
The average age, from date of first vehicle registration, of a Private Hire Vehicle in Nottingham is 
6 years compared to 11.5 years for Hackneys (demonstrating an age differential of +5.5 years). 
On average, Hackney Carriage vehicles are more than twice as old as Private Hire Vehicles. 
The oldest Hackney Carriage is a 19 year old London Taxi International Fairway.

5

6

5

In December 2015, the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) published a 
new Air Quality Plan. The aim of this was to reduce air pollution levels in problem areas to within EU 
threshold limits.
As a result the Government is going to mandate certain areas, including Nottingham, to implement 
Clean Air Zones. This means that by 2020 polluting taxi and private hire vehicles along with buses, 
coaches and heavy goods vehicles will be required to pay a charge to enter designated areas unless 
they meet stringent emission standards i.e. are classified as Ultra Low Emission. 

A scoping study is currently underway to determine the location and specification of the Clean Air 
Zone for Nottingham.

1  https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212554/taxi-private-hire-licensing-guide.pdf 

Page 17



Figure 1: Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Age comparison (Nottingham)

Figure 2: The Euro Emission Profile of the Hackney and Private Hire Fleet in Nottingham

6

In 1992 the European Union introduced new emission standards for vehicles. These have 
progressively tightened limits for the main atmospheric pollutants.2 None of Nottingham’s 
Hackneys meet the Euro 6 emission standard, with only 2% of the fleet meeting the Euro 5 
standard, which was introduced in 2010/11. 11% of the fleet actually pre date the Euro standards. 
In contrast 44%of the private hire fleet meets the Euro 5 standard and 41% Euro 4.3

2  https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/239317/ultra-low-emission-vehicle-strategy.pdf

3 Energy Saving Trust ULEV Taxi Scheme Feasibility Study 

Page 18



Figure 3: Registered type of Private Hire Vehicles (Nottingham)

Table 1: NHT Public Satisfaction Survey (taxi indicator results for Nottingham – detailed 
breakdown by question)

Clean Fleet 
The private hire market is showing signs of investment in low emission vehicles. Currently 193 of the 
1,073 (18%) private hire fleet are electric or hybrid vehicles. The remaining 82% are either petrol or 
diesel powered. 

Number of DDA compliant/ wheel chair accessible vehicles 
All Hackney Carriage vehicles are wheelchair accessible. Data is not held on wheelchair compliant 
private hire vehicles as there is no legislation/requirement on businesses to have wheelchair 
accessible vehicles. The Licensing Authority has the power to impose this requirement on 
businesses, but where proposals have been put forward by other councils it has been met with 
trade opposition due to costs and is not currently being pursued. 

National Highways and Transport (NHT) Public Satisfaction 
Survey Results 2016
Nottingham City Council participates in the annual NHT Public Satisfaction Survey every two 
years. The postal survey collects public perspectives and satisfaction with a range of Highway and 
Transport Services in the Local Authority area. Table 1 below shows the three indicators included in 
the NHT Public Satisfaction Survey for taxis. As can be seen Nottingham City scored positively in 
the last (2014) survey.

 

Very or fairly satisfied Fairly or very dissatisfied

Cost of taxis 36% 24%

Reliability of taxis 58% 4%

Availability of taxis 65% 2%

7
Page 19



	 Taxi ranks 
	 Taxi ranks are an important element in helping to manage the supply of taxis at busy 
locations. They help to reduce congestion and vehicle emissions by limiting the time drivers spend 
on the road while waiting to be hired. Ranks are important especially for disabled passengers 
as they allow enough time and space for wheelchairs to be loaded safely. The key issue the City 
Council faces with ranks is competition for kerb side space e.g. bus stops, loading and general 
parking and the management of them, particularly over ranking problems. The Council is committed 
to reviewing ranks based on demand and availability of kerb space. There are currently 11 formal all 
day time ranks designated in the city centre with an additional 18 ranks that come into force in the 
evening. These are shown in Figure 3 below

	  Enforcement
	 The Licensing Team carry out annual inspections of operators at their respective bases. 
Enforcement officers conduct regular rank checks within the city in respect of driver’s licences, 
vehicle licences and conditions of vehicle. Bi-annual multi-agency taxi checks are carried out to 
identify taxis for more serious offences e.g. driving without a licence or plying for hire. 

7

8

8
Page 20



Figure 3: City centre taxi ranks 

INTU
VICTORIA
CENTRE

VICTORIA
BUS 

STATION

INTU
BROADMARSH

NOTTINGHAM 
CASTLE

HM REVENUE 
& CUSTOMS

LOXLEY HOUSE
(NOTTINGHAM
CITY COUNCIL)

MOTORPOINT 
ARENA

NATIONAL 
ICE CENTRE

Nottingham  Canal

Arboretum

St Mary’s
Rest Garden

Victoria
Park

BURTON ST

ALMA CL

GILL STREET

HAMPDEN  STREET

PEACHEY ST

YORK STREET

UNION RD

BLUECOAT  ST

PEEL STREET

PE
EL

 S
TR

EE
T

DUNDAS CL

BLUECOAT  CL

DRYDEN STREET

BURTON  ST
BURTON  ST

A6008  UPPER  PARLIAMENT  ST             
           

     UPPER  PARLIAMENT  STREET

A60   LOW ER
   

 P
A

R
LI

AM
EN

T 
   

ST
RE

ET
   

                          
                    

                                     LOWER  PARLIAMENT  STREET

      LOWER        PARLIAMENT   ST                                            

SHAKESPEARE ST  A6008NORTH CHURCH ST

A6008

SO
UTH  SHERW

OOD  ST 
NORTH

  SH
ERW

OOD  ST

              GOLDSM
ITH  STREET

  WAVERLEY STREET

   SHAKESPEARE STREET    

SOUTH PARADE

COBDEN
CHAMBERS

HURTS YARD

BR
OM

LE
Y 

PL
AC

E

 SPANIEL  ROW

M
OU

NT
 S

T

M
ARKET  STREET

ANGEL ROW LONG ROW

CHEAPSIDE

POULTRY

    BOTTLE  LANE

VICTORIA  STREET

BYARD LA
PILCHER  GATEFL

ET
CH

ER
   

GA
TE

W
EE

KD
AY

 C
RO

SS

LONG ROW WEST

CHAPEL

LONG  ROW

OLD MARKET
SQUARE

SMITHY ROW

       LINCOLN  STREET 

GREYHOUND ST

CLINTON ST E 

CLINTON ST  W

CLUM
BER  STREET 

FORMAN ST

TRINITY 
SQ

THURLAND  ST

HIGH  ST

EXCHANGE  W
ALK

QUEEN STREET
KING ST

M
ILTON  STREET

BAR

ALBION ST

GR
EY

FR
IA

R 
GA

TRAFFIC STREET

          A6019   WATERWAY  STREET  

A6
01

9 
SH

ER
IF

FS
 W

AY

W
IL

FO
RD

 S
T

A45
3 Q

UEE
NS ROAD

   
 W

IL
FO

RD
 R

OA
D

TOLLHOUSE  HILL

WOLLATON ST

PA
RK

  R
OW

POSTERN ST

REGENT  STREET

                  THE   ROPEWALK M
OU

NT
 S

TR
EE

T

ST JA
MES’S ST

FR
IAR LA

NE

   
  L

IS
TE

R 
 G

AT
E

ST J
AMES

’S STR
EE

T

   
 F

RI
AR

  L
AN

E

    ALBERT ST

WHEELER GATE

     
  HOUNDS  GATE

      
     S

T      P
ETER’S  GATE

POPHAM
 STREET

M
ALTM

ILL LA

CLIFF  ROAD

CITY  LINK CITY  LINK

WARSER  GATE

    PELHAM  STREET
CARLTON ST

GOOSE  GATE

WOOLPACK  LANE

BARKER  GATE

PLUMTRE STREET

POPLAR STREETMALIN  HILL

SHORTWOOD CL

STATION               
 STREET

CARRINGTON        STREET

CARRINGTON  ST

ARKW
RIGHT  STREET

CROCUS  STREET

BURNHAM  ST

MEADOWS  WAY

MEADOWS  WAY

PEMBERTON 

ST

HOCKLEY

BE
DF

OR
D 

RO
W

CO
NV

EN
T 

ST

BE
CK

 S
T

   
EA

ST
  S

T

CO
W

AN
  S

T

GED
LIN

G ST

RO
BI

N 
 H

OO
D 

 S
TR

EE
T

NELSON ST

AVENUE A

AVE E

AVE D

SNEINTON  ROAD

AVENUE C

STONEY  STREET

BROOK STREET

    

ST
 A

NN
’S

 W
EL

L 
RO

AD

B6
84

   
W

OO
DB

OR
OU

GH
 R

OA
D

         BATH  STREET

         BATH  STREET

    S
T MARKS ST

   
 H

OW
AR

D 
 S

T
   

   R
IC

K 
 S

T

    
  K

EN
T  

 ST

   P
ER

TH
  S

T

  OLD ST

  K
IN

G 
 ED

W
ARD ST

   
  H

EA
TH

CO
TE

   
ST

RE
ET

   
 B

RI
GH

TM
OO

R 
  S

T

    U
NION ROAD

W
AT

KI
N 

ST
RE

ET

GREAT DRYDEN STREET

SHELTON STREET

W
EL

LI
NG

TO
N 

 S
T

M
IDDLE  H

ILL

TR
EN

T 
   

   
ST

RE
ET

   C
ASTLE      

 GATE
LOW   PAVEMENT

STANFORD ST

PEVERIL   DRIVE

BRIDLESM
ITH  GATE

W
EST END

ARC ADE

 TALBOT  STREET

               WOLLATON  STREET

   HIGH  PAVEMENT

   HOLLOWSTONE

       W
ELL IN GT ON

       C IRCU S

ADAMS WALK

BRIDLESMITH 

HALIFAX  PL

GEORGE  STREET

BROAD  STREET

       A60    GLASSHOUSE  STREET
A60    HUNTINGDON  STREET

                       A60    HUNTINGDON  

                       A60    M
ANSFIELD  ROAD

ST  M
ARY’S  GATE

ST  M
AR Y’S  GATE

WALK

A6008   M
AID M

ARIAN  W
AY                                A6008   M

AID M
ARIAN  W

AY

A6008 COLLIN STREET

                  A6005  CANAL  STREET

A6005  CANAL  STREET

                     
    A6005  CASTLE BOULEVARD

KI
NG

  S
TR

EE
T

MIDDLE 

KINGS

W
ALK

TRINITY

W
ALK

FLYING
HORSE
WALK

WEEKDAY 
CROSS

  BROADW AY

LENTON ROAD

STANDARD  HILL

ST JAMES’S 

CLARENDON STREET

   CURZON    STREET

       A6008    CRANBROOK  STREET
 BELW

ARD
 STREET

   BELLAR GAT E

A61
2 S

OUTH
WELL RD

B6
86

  C
ARLT

ON ROAD

 HOLLOW
STO

NE
 A60   LONDON  ROAD

 A60   LONDON  ROAD

 A6019   QUEENS  ROAD

       A612  PENNYFOOT  ST

       F
ISHER GATE

     CHAUCER  STREET

A612   M
ANVERS  STREET

                       A60          M
ANSFIELD  ROAD

PAVEMENT

BEASTM
ARKET

         HILL

DERBY       ROAD

11pm - 6am

6pm - 6am
6pm - 8am

7pm - 4am

7pm - 7am

Figure adjacent symbol 
indicates number of 
taxis per rank

At any time

Midnight - 4am 4pm - 4am

10pm - 4am

*

NOTTINGHAM
PLAYHOUSE

ST PETER’S
CHURCH

ST  NICHOLAS’
CHURCH

ALBERT
HALL

ROYAL 
CONCERT 

HALL

THEATRE
ROYAL

CORNER
HOUSE

ST MARY’S
CHURCH

R.C. 
CATHEDERAL

COURTS

COURTS

taxi ranks
nottingham city centre

0 50 100

© Crown Copyright and database
right 2017. Ordnance Survey 
Licence number 100019317.

6

1

6

8

6

9

4

7

2

6

6

4

4

7

3

35

12

5

11

5

4

8

32

67

16

7

3

9
Page 21



	 Challenges and Opportunities
	 This strategy seeks to put measures in place to respond to the following challenges and 
opportunities which have been derived from trade representation and customer feedback:

•	 Better quality service for the public 

•	 Personal safety issues for passengers, with particular reference to women, young and 		
disabled people

•	 Personal safety issues for drivers

•	 How to balance supply with demand impacting levels of provision and locations

•	 Compliance with license conditions, particularly ensuring that private hire observe the 
requirements for pre-booking

•	 Driver Behaviour (over ranking, violation of traffic orders, illegal parking)

•	 Impact of major transport infrastructure changes including changes to Nottingham 		
Train Station, the completion of NET Phase Two and in the future implications of 		
Broadmarsh/ Southside Transport Strategy, Connecting Eastside Phase 2

•	 The need to improve air quality, especially in the city centre and other problem areas 		
that exceed EU Limit Values

•	 The need to reduce carbon emissions

•	 Support drivers to become ambassadors for the city and thus enhance Nottingham’s 		
reputation 

	 Office for Low Emission Vehicles 
	 In June 2015 the Council submitted a bid to the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) 
Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) Taxi Scheme Fund, for which £20 million funding has been 
allocated to encourage cities to grow the market for ULEVs in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
market. In July 2015, it was announced that the City’s bid had been successfully shortlisted to the 
final bidding round. The Energy Saving Trust (EST) in partnership with the Council has undertaken 
a feasibility study worth £30,000. The study gathered information as to how the City Council could 
use the potential funding to reduce the upfront cost of purpose built taxis and where charging 
infrastructure will be best located to serve the trade. Representatives of the trade were invited to 
input into the study. This information was used to inform a Delivery Phase bid which was submitted 
by the City Council to OLEV in December 2016. If successful, funding will be awarded from 2016 
to 2020.  

9

10

10
Page 22



	 Key Strategy Deliverables

These will be achieved through a series of measures, more significantly including:

1.	 Improving customer experience care of drivers and services offered by 		
	 the trade: 
•	 Refresh the code of conduct setting out expected standards of driver and customer behaviour. 

•	 The Council will consider implementing a Driver Dress Code, to improve upon Nottingham’s 
existing taxi industry reputation by ensuring all relevant licensed drivers adhere to a minimum 
standard of dress to help promote a smart and professional Hackney carriage and private hire 
service for citizens and visitors to Nottingham. 

•	 There will be a requirement of a large photographic name badge to be present in the vehicle; 
this will make driver identification easier. 

•	 Improved signage in the vehicle to include at a minimum; a no smoking, no withholding 
payment and a no meter running no fee applicable signs. 

•	 A complaints number and customer feedback email address will be displayed clearly in 
all vehicles.       

•	 A Driver Excellence Award will be implemented in recognition of outstanding customer service 
– this will focus on drivers who provide quality services for disabled and elderly passengers. 

•	 Commencement of a series of taxi related campaigns around disability awareness. 

2.	 Work with neighbouring districts to develop a coherent taxi licensing and 	
	 enforcement policy: 
•	 The Council will work with other neighbouring local authorities to develop a licensing 

framework to which all licensed vehicles will adhere too. 

•	 The framework could give the Council and other partner local authorities the right to enforce 
against licensed vehicles within their boundary, which are not adhering to regulations. 

3.	 Creation of a city centre taxi zone: 
•	 Changes to existing City Centre Clear Zone access arrangements.

•	 Introduction of a Clean Air Zone that will charge for access for certain categories of vehicle 
that do not meet stringent low emission standards.

•	 The designation of taxi ranks within the zone as ULEV. 

4.	 Fleet clean: 
•	 A policy will be introduced to require that all Hackney Carriages are ULEV by 2025. 

•	 A minimum of 40% of Hackney Carriages will be ULEV by 2020. 

•	 Target for 25% of private hire fleet to be ULEV by 2020 and 50% of fleet by 2025. 

•	 Licenses will not be issued for diesel vehicles older than 5 years. 

•	 Provision of a mandatory eco driving course as part of obtaining a license will be included. 

•	 The City Council will actively seek funding to incentivise the trade to renew and upgrade

	 its fleet. 

•	 Licenses will be offered at a reduced rate for those drivers who take up ULEV. 

•	 The Council will also consider issuing a small number of additional licenses to expedite the 
take up of ultra-low emission vehicles. 

•	 The Council will investigate opportunities to develop a ULEV leasing scheme. 

11

11
Page 23



5.	 Driver Improvement Penalty Points Scheme (DIPPS): 
•	 The Council has a responsibility to ensure that all drivers of City Council licensed vehicles 

adhere to minimum standards. The standards concerned are defined by legislation, licence 
conditions, byelaws adopted by the Council and in this scheme. 

•	 DIPPS is a new non-statutory enforcement tool designed to enable Authorised Officers of the 
City Council to issue penalty points to those drivers licensed by the Council who persistently 
fail to meet the required standards contained within the licensed conditions and licensing 
legislation. 

•	 The aim of the scheme is to improve overall driver compliance with legislation and licence 
conditions in order to secure overall improvements in driver behaviour, customer service and 
passenger safety. Implementation of a system that will see points issued to license holders 
who contravene an infringement. 

•	 Each license will receive a points allocation specific to the level of their responsibility. Issues 
have been raised by the trade around over ranking, violation of traffic orders and illegal 
parking. 

6.	 Introduction of an improved fit and proper person test
•	 The Council will ensure all drivers pass an English test before being granted a license.

•	 To improve customer service drivers must also pass a Nottingham Knowledge, History and 
Culture test. 

7.	 Safeguarding: 
•	 As part of the application of obtaining a new license or renewing a license, the applicants will 

be required to attend a Safeguarding Awareness Training session provided by Nottingham City 
Council. A license will not be granted until this has been completed. 

•	 Introduction of a continuous disclosure and barring service registration for drivers. 

•	 Driver and vehicle identification will be improved through new driver display cards. 

•	 Work with licensed businesses to improve operational safeguarding practices. 

•	 Launch a Taxi Safety Awareness Campaign in partnership with Nottinghamshire Police, 
University of Nottingham, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham’s Business Improvement 
District and Nottingham Street Pastors to increase public understanding of the potential 
dangers of using unlicensed vehicles. 

8.	 Technology: 
•	 Provide an online application and renewal service for taxi license holders. This will help reduce 

costs for license holders and improve the efficiency of the application process. 

•	 The Council will develop and launch an online/ app based operator quality rating system to 
drive up standards.

•	 Incentives will be placed around drivers regularly receiving high quality ratings from customer 
for example increased priority if grants become available for vehicle purchase. 

•	 Introduction of a Taxi E-Newsletter to improve communication between the City Council and 
the trade and its patrons.

12
Page 24



	 Action Plan 
	 Table 2 sets out the measures, actions and timescales for implementation. 
	 These are grouped in accordance with the strategy areas.

Table 2: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Action Plan 

Strategy Area Measure Benefit Action Timescale

Quality 
Designation of 
new taxi hub at 
the railway station 

Additional pick up 
point for station 
hub 

NCC to coordinate 
with East Midlands 
Trains to help 
facilitate

Short 
(1-2 years)

Quality

Develop a 
taxi operating 
application for the 
internet and smart 
phones 

Will ensure 
Hackney 
carriages 
can remain 
competitive 
with app based 
operator 

NCC to develop 
a business model 
for the app 
development to 
assess viability 

Short 

Quality

Provide taxi 
waiting facilities 
at other public 
transport 
interchange 
points

Increased 
availability of 
pick up points 
and improved 
integration with 
other modes

NCC will identify 
and implement

Short

Quality

Travel offers for 
target groups e.g. 
disabled people 
and unemployed 
to access work or 
training 

Reduction in cost 
will make service 
more accessible 

NCC and trade 
to develop travel 
offers

Short

Quality

Through 
ticketing with 
public transport 
operators via 
Robin Hood 
smartcard

Opportunity for 
multi-modal travel 

NCC to explore via 
Citycard

Medium  
3-5 years)

12

13
Page 25



Strategy Area Measure Benefit Action Timescale

Clean 

Provide access to 
grants to support 
early take up of 
low emission/ 
electric vehicles

Helps reduce 
the initial cost of 
a low emission 
vehicle. Long term 
cost saving in 
fuel for operators 
and drivers. 
Environmental 
benefits. 

NCC will submit 
bids to relevant 
funding streams that 
become available for 
example the recently 
shortlisted bid to 
the Office for Low 
Emission Vehicles 
(OLEV)

Short

Clean 

Develop a network 
of fast charging 
infrastructure 
across the City

Give drivers 
confidence to 
transition to low 
emission vehicles 

Short 

Clean 

Support 
development of a 
ULEV taxi leasing 
scheme 

Will remove 
financial barrier of 
upfront costs of 
purchasing a ULEV 
for drivers, thus 
expediting take up 

NCC to develop 
business model 
for the proposed 
operation 

Short

Clean 
Creation of Clean 
Air Zone 

Improved air 
quality in the City 
Centre

NCC to work with 
DEFRA to ensure 
implementation by 
the end of 2019 

Short 

Clean

Undertake 
work on a ‘no 
idling’ campaign 
consisting of signs 
and promotions 
to encourage 
drivers to turn off 
the engines whilst 
stationary

Idling costs the 
trade money and 
has a negative 
impact on the 
environment. 
By encouraging 
drivers it will 
contribute to 
improved air 
quality in the city. 

NCC will produce 
signs and undertake 
promotions to 
encourage drivers to 
turn off the engines 
whilst stationary

Short 

Clean

Attendance at an 
Eco Driving course 
will become a 
mandatory part 
of obtaining a 
license. 

An eco-driving 
course will provide 
attendees with 
the knowledge to 
driver vehicles in a 
more cost efficient, 
environmentally 
friendly manner

License criteria will 
be amended over a 
period of time

Short

Clean

Changes to 
policy to include 
a maximum age 
of 10 years for 
all vehicles in 
operation

More fuel efficient 
vehicles will 
be in operation 
transferring 
into cost and 
environmental 
benefits for the 
trade and the City 

Medium

Clean

Policy changes to 
target all Hackneys 
and 50% of private 
hire vehicles to be 
ULEV by 2025. 

Medium 

14
Page 26



	 Funding improvements
	 The measures contained within the strategy will be potentially implemented through a 	
package of funding streams including; 

•	 Nottingham City Council resources

•	 Government funding opportunities 

•	 D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership

•	 The development of a lease fund

The City Council will also explore the creation of a financial model to support drivers in their 
purchase of ULEV vehicles. 

	 Working with partners to deliver 
	 this vision
We will work with local councillors, trade representatives, user groups including the local disability 
forum, public transport operators, business representatives, Business Improvement District, Invest 
in Nottingham and Marketing NG, amongst others on the contents of this strategy.

Strategy Area Measure Benefit Action Timescale

Enforced  

Develop coherent 
and enforceable 
taxi licensing policy 
with neighbouring 
districts 

Will give NCC officers the 
right to enforce against 
offending vehicles from 
neighbouring authorities  

NCC to work with 
other districts to 
develop policy   

Short

Enforced 

Implement Driver 
Improvement 
Penalty Points 
Scheme  

Improve overall driver 
compliance with legislation 
and licence conditions 
in order to secure overall 
improvements in driver 
behaviour, customer service 
and passenger safety. 

NCC to finalise 
policy and begin 
consultation with 
the trade 

Short 

Enforced

Complete review 
of rank capacity 
and increase rank 
capacity where 
warranted based 
on demand and 
available kerb space

Reduce problem of over 
ranking and ensure ranks 
are better matched to 
demand availability 

NCC to 
implement 
additional ranks

Short 

Enforced

Clamp down on 
over-ranking and 
illegal plying for hire 
at known hot spot 
areas around the 
station and in the 
City Centre 

Improved driver behaviour, 
decreased congestion 
at ranks and reduce risk 
of vehicles blocking the 
highway  

Introduction 
of the Driver 
Improvement 
Penalty Points 
scheme will 
discourage illegal 
plying and road 
manoeuvres.  

Short

Enforced

Extend enforcement 
to include moving 
traffic offences e.g. 
banned turns (when 
appropriate powers 
secured)

Ensure compliance with 
road traffic regulations

Requiring change 
to national 
legislation

Long

13

14

15
Page 27



Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Vehicle Strategy 

www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/taxis

Page 28



 

 

C I T Y   O F   N O T T I N G H A M

AGE AND SPECIFICATION POLICIES RELATING TO 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 

GENERAL 

1. This policy will have effect from 1 January 2018

2. No Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle shall be granted a licence unless 
it meets the City Council’s approved vehicle specification and in accordance 
with the Council’s ealier Policy it will still be the case that no licence will be 
granted for a Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence unless that Vehicle is 
wheelchair accessible.

3. Nottingham City Council will refuse to renew a licence for a vehicle for use
as a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle once the respective upper age
limit has been reached.

4. From 01/01/2020 additional vehicle specifications will be required
for all vehicles. Vehicle owners are encouraged to contact the Licensing

Office for advice at least 2 years before the vehicle is due to reach the upper
age limit or purchasing a new vehicle.

5. From 01/01/2025, any vehicle being licensed for the first time as a Hackney
Carriage or Private Hire vehicle will be required to be ZEC ULEV

6. From 01/01/2030, no vehicle shall be licensed as a Hackney Carriage or
Private Hire vehicle unless it is a Zero Emissions Capable Ultra Low
Emission Vehicle

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 

From 01/01/2020 

1. Only Private Hire vehicles FOUR (4) years of age and under from the date of
first DVLA registration will be considered for first licensing or as a
replacement vehicle.

2. Private Hire vehicles over the age of TEN (10) years from the date of first
DVLA registration will ordinarily be REFUSED a licence

3. Private Hire vehicles over the age of THREE (3) years from the date of first
DVLA registration will be subject to SIX (6) monthly MOT inspections carried
out by Nottingham City Council testers

Page 29



 

 

WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLES 

From 01/01/18 

1. All applications for replacement Hackney Carriage vehicles will be ordinarily
REFUSED unless the vehicle to be licenced is newer than the existing vehicle
and is no more than SIX (6) years of age from the date of first DVLA
registration

2. All Hackney Carriage vehicles over the age of THREE (3) years from the date
of first DVLA registration will be subject to SIX (6) monthly MOT inspections
carried out by Nottingham City Council testers.

3. Hackney Carriage vehicles over the age of TEN (10) years from the date of 
first DVLA registration will ordinarily be REFUSED a licence UNLESS the 
vehicle is in exceptionally good road-worthy condition and approved for use 
following an Exceptional Condition Vehicle Check carried out by an 
authorised officer.

From 01/01/2020 

1. All Hackney Carriage vehicles will be required to be a minimum of Euro 6
Diesel or ZEC ULEV.

2. No Euro 6 Diesel vehicle will ordinarily be licensed as a hackney carriage if it
over the age of TEN (10) years.

3. No ZEC ULEV vehicle will ordinarily be licensed as a hackney carriage if it
over the age of FOURTEEN (14) years

From 01/01/2025 

1. No ZEC ULEV vehicle will ordinarily be licensed as a hackney carriage if it
over the age of TWELVE (12) years

* Euro 6 diesel relates to the engine AND vehicle both being manufactured after September

2015. 

** ZEC ULEV definition – emit up to 50g/km CO2 with a minimum of 30  mile emission 
range.  A ZEC Hackney Carriage MUST be petrol if an internal combustion engine is used 

Page 30



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 4 JULY 2018 
 
Prepared by Angela Rawson – Regional Licensing & Policy Manager 
(Director – Andrew Errington)   
 
TAXI STRATEGY 2017 – 2020 
 
Link to strategy  https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/456172/taxi-strategy-
feb17.pdf  
 
The taxi strategy came together in 2017 following concerns relating to a number of 
matters from the state of the hackney carriage vehicles and service provision, 
safeguarding matters following the Rotherham child abuse scandal where taxis were 
implicated, control of the city centre particularly in the evening, cross border 
transition of vehicles and last but not least the government mandate on pollution 
levels. 
 
It was decided that a strategy was required to guide the way forward with distinct 
aims and deliverables to ensure a continued rate of progress and improvement. 
 
Aim: 

• Achievable 5 year action plan for the trades to help achieve high quality 
operations  
 

Deliverables: 
• Improving customer care experience of drivers and services offered by the 

trade  
• Work with neighbouring districts to develop a coherent taxi licensing and 

enforcement policy 
• Creation of a city centre taxi zone 
• Clean fleet 
• Driver Improvement Penalty Points Scheme (DIPPS) 
• Introduction of an improved fit and proper person test 
• Safeguarding 
• Technology 

 
Not only was work progressing internally but external partners needed to be included 
in the planning to ensure buy in and smooth transition in many areas.  Partners 
included internal colleagues from Transport and Community Protection Compliance 
and Enforcement Officers. 
 
External partners included both private hire and hackney carriage trade bodies, 
Energy Savings Trust (bid for infrastructure funding) and manufacturers particularly 
those making electric vehicles. 
Progress: 
 

• AGE & EMISSIONS – todays subject point 
New age policy introduced, ensuring a smooth transition to the latest 
vehicles, including electric versions, by 2020 with full transition to electric 
only by 2030. 
 

Page 31

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/456172/taxi-strategy-feb17.pdf
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/456172/taxi-strategy-feb17.pdf


• ENFORCEMENT 
Taxi licensing and enforcement policy developed and approved by 7 out of 8 
local councils resulting in Officers from each borough being able to enforce 
and engage with drivers from outside their own area.  Multi council 
enforcement operations have taken place with local Councils and West 
Midlands 
 

• SAFEGUARDING 
All existing drivers trained in safeguarding.  Mandatory inclusion for all new 
applicants 
 

• TECHNOLOGY 
Work taken place with an app company whose remit was for London to give 
Hackney Carriage Drivers access to increase their customer base  
 

• COMMERCIAL BRANDING – HACKNEYS 
Advertising policy amended to allow Hackneys to use more space on their 
vehicle for advertising to raise revenue 
 

• DRIVER IMPROVEMENT PENALTY POINT SCHEME (DIPPs) 
Scheme implemented 1/4/17 with 559 notices being issued to date of which 
16 drivers have had licence reviews with various sanctions from warning to 
suspension.  
 

Moving forward: 
 

• CREATION OF TAXI & PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 
To include review of all licensing conditions to ensure robustness 
 

• CUSTOMER SERVICES 
To include customer services training as standard 
 

• TAXI LEGISLATION 
Continue to work with Government to pave the way for full legislative change 

 

Page 32



 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

4 JULY 2018 

WORK PROGRAMME  

REPORT OF HEAD OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 

 
1 Purpose 
 
1.1 To consider the Committee’s work programme for 2018/19. 
 
2 Action required 
 
2.1 To discuss the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 

and make any necessary amendments. 
 
3 Background information 

 
3.1 The Committee discussed items for its 2018/19 work programme on 14 

March 2018, and approved it on 4 April 2018, with some amendments 
being made at subsequent meetings. 

 
3.2 The Committee is responsible for setting and managing its own work 

programme. 
 
3.3 In setting the work programme, the Committee should aim for an 

outcome-focussed work programme that has clear priorities and a clear 
link to its roles and responsibilities.  

 
3.4 The work programme needs to be flexible so that issues which arise as 

the year progresses can be considered appropriately. 
 
3.5 Where there are a number of potential items that could be scrutinised in 

a given year, consideration of what represents the highest priority or area 
of risk will assist with work programme planning.  

 
3.6 Changes and/or additions to the work programme will need to take 

account of the resources available to the Committee. 
 
4 List of attached information 
 
4.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2018/19 Work Programme. 
 
5 Background papers, other than published works or those 

disclosing exempt or confidential information 
 
5.1 None. 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



 

6 Published documents referred to in compiling this report 
 
6.1 Work Programme 2018/19 Development – report and minutes, Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, 14 March 2018. 
 
7 Wards affected 
 
7.1 All. 
 
8 Contact information 
 
8.1 Laura Wilson 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 0115 8764301 
 laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

Page 34

mailto:laura.wilson@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

DATE ITEMS 

5 September 2018 
 

Discussion with the Portfolio Holder for Community Protection (Councillor Toby Neal) 
To consider an update on progress against Council Plan priorities, budget pressures and challenges 
 
Implementation of measures to improve air quality 
To consider the Council’s plans regarding the charging infrastructure for electric vehicles and possible solutions to 
reduce the impact of Council’s own vehicles on air quality in the city 
 
Work Programme 
To agree the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 
 

3 October 2018 
 

Discussion with the Portfolio Holder for Education and Skills (Councillor Neghat Khan) (with a focus on the 
non-schools elements of the portfolio) 
To consider an update on progress against Council Plan priorities, budget pressures and challenges 
 
Enforcement Agent Review 
To receive an update on the review previously carried out by a Scrutiny Review Panel 
 
Work Programme 
To agree the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 
 

7 November 2018 
 

Discussion with the Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Localities (Councillor Dave Trimble) 
To consider an update on progress against Council Plan priorities, budget pressures and challenges 
 
Crime and Drugs Partnership work to combat youth criminality 
To look at the work of partners in combatting youth criminality 
 
Work Programme 
To agree the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 
 

5 December 2018 
 

Discussion with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning (Councillor Jane Urquhart) 
To consider an update on progress against Council Plan priorities, budget pressures and challenges 
 
Crime and Drugs Partnership work to combat youth criminality 
To look at the work of partners in combatting youth criminality 
 

P
age 35



 

 

Work Programme 
To agree the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 
 

9 January 2019 
 

Discussion with the Deputy Leader/Portfolio Holder for Finance, Resources and Commercial Services 
(Councillor Graham Chapman) 
To consider an update on progress against Council Plan priorities, budget pressures and challenges 
 
Policing in Nottingham 
To look at the work of Nottinghamshire Police in combatting crime in the city 
 
Work Programme 
To agree the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 
 

6 February 2019 
 

Discussion with the Portfolio Holder for Energy and Environment (Councillor Sally Longford) 
To consider an update on progress against Council Plan priorities, budget pressures and challenges 
 
House building  
To look at progress in achieving the target number of properties that need to be built in the city 
 
Work Programme 
To agree the work programme for the remainder of the municipal year 
 

6 March 2019 
 

Credit Unions 
To explore how the Council interacts with them, the benefits of using them and whether they are an effective 
way of addressing the increasing use of payday lenders 
 
Property Asset Register 
To look at the strategic approach to managing property assets 
 
Work Programme 2019/20 Development 
To discuss the work programme for 2019/20 
 

P
age 36


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 Discussion with the Leader/Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Growth
	5 Implementation of measures to improve air quality
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Strategy 2017-2020
	Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Age and Specifications Policy
	Briefing note from Taxi Licensing

	6 Work Programme

